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Independent Auditor’s Report
Board of Directors
Independent Bankers Financial Corporation
and Subsidiaries
Farmers Branch, Texas

Opinions on the Financial Statements and Internal Control over Financial
Reporting
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Independent Bankers Financial Corporation and
Subsidiaries (Corporation), which comprise the balance sheets as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, and
the related statements of income, comprehensive income, shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for the
years then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements. In our opinion, the accompanying
financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Corporation as of
December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the related statements of income, comprehensive income,
shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America.
We also have audited the Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021,
based on criteria established in the Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013), issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). In our opinion, the
Corporation maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2021, based on COSO.

Basis for Opinions
We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America (GAAS). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audits of the Financial Statements and Internal Control over Financial Reporting”
section of our report. We are required to be independent of the Corporation and to meet our other ethical
responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audits. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinions.

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements and Internal Control
over Financial Reporting
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America and for the
design, implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control over financial reporting relevant to
the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error. Management also is responsible for its assessment about the effectiveness
of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Report –
FDICIA Requirements.
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In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or
events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Corporation’s ability to continue
as a going concern within one year after the date that these financial statements are issued.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audits of the Financial Statements and Internal
Control over Financial Reporting
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and about whether effective internal
control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinions.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a
guarantee that an audit of financial statements or an audit of internal control over financial reporting
conducted in accordance with GAAS will always detect a material misstatement or a material weakness
when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered to be material if
there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment
made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements.
In performing an audit of financial statements and an audit of internal control over financial reporting in
accordance with GAAS, we:


Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audits.



Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such
procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements.



Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the financial statement audit in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances.



Obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting relevant to the audit of
internal control over financial reporting, assess the risks that a material weakness exists, and test
and evaluate the design and operating effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting
based on the assessed risk.



Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the
financial statements.



Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate,
that raise substantial doubt about the Corporation’s ability to continue as a going concern for a
reasonable period of time.



We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal
control-related matters that we identified during the financial statement audit.
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Definition and Inherent Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting
An entity’s internal control over financial reporting is a process effected by those charged with
governance, management, and other personnel, designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
preparation of reliable financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America. Because management's assessment and our audit were conducted to meet
the reporting requirements of Section 112 of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation Improvement Act
(FDICIA), our audit of the Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting included controls over
the preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America and with the instructions to the Parent Company-Only Financial Statements for
Small Holding Companies (Form FR Y-9SP). An entity’s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable
detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the entity; (2) provide
reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America,
and that receipts and expenditures of the entity are being made only in accordance with authorizations of
management and those charged with governance; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection and correction of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the
entity’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent, or detect and
correct, misstatements. Also, projections of any assessment of effectiveness to future periods are subject
to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Dallas, Texas
March 23, 2022
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT – FDICIA REQUIREMENTS
Management Report
In this management report, TIB, National Association, a subsidiary institution of Independent Bankers
Financial Corporation (Corporation) that is subject to Part 363, is included in the statement of
management's responsibilities; the report on management's assessment of compliance with the federal
laws and regulations pertaining to insider loans and the federal and, if applicable, state laws and
regulations pertaining to dividend restrictions; and the report on management's assessment of internal
control over financial reporting:
Statement of Management’s Responsibilities
The management of the Corporation is responsible for preparing the Corporation’s annual financial
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America;
for establishing and maintaining an adequate internal control structure and procedures for financial
reporting, including controls over the preparation of regulatory financial statements in accordance with the
instructions to the Parent Company Only Financial Statements for Small Holding Companies (Form FR Y9SP); and for complying with the federal laws and regulations pertaining to insider loans and the federal
and, if applicable, state laws and regulations pertaining to dividend restrictions.
Management’s Assessment of Compliance with Designated Laws and Regulations
Management has assessed the Corporation’s compliance with the federal laws and regulations pertaining
to insider loans and the federal and state laws and regulations pertaining to dividend restrictions during
the fiscal year that ended on December 31, 2021. Based upon its assessment, management has
concluded that the Corporation complied with the federal laws and regulations pertaining to insider loans
and the federal and state laws and regulations pertaining to dividend restrictions during the fiscal year
that ended on December 31, 2021.
Management’s Assessment of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
The Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed and effected by those
charged with governance, management, and other personnel, to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of reliable financial statements in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America and financial statements for
regulatory reporting purposes, i.e., Form FR Y-9SP. The Corporation’s internal control over financial
reporting includes those policies and procedures that (a) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the
Corporation; (b) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America and financial statements for regulatory reporting purposes, and that receipts
and expenditures of the Corporation are being made only in accordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the Corporation; and (c) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention, or timely detection and correction of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the
Corporation’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent, or detect and
correct misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject
to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies and procedures may deteriorate.
Management assessed the effectiveness of the Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting,
including controls over the preparation of regulatory financial statements in accordance with the Parent
INDEPENDENT BANKERS FINANCIAL CORPORATION
11701 LUNA ROAD • FARMERS BRANCH • TEXAS • 75234
800.288.4842

4

Company Only Financial Statements for Small Holding Companies (Form FR Y-9SP), as of December 31,
2021, based on the framework set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013). Based upon its assessment,
management has concluded that, as of December 31, 2021, the Corporation’s internal control over
financial reporting, including controls over the preparation of regulatory financial statements in
accordance with the Call Report Instructions, is effective based on the criteria established in Internal
Control – Integrated Framework (2013).
Management’s assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, including
controls over the preparation of regulatory financial statements in accordance with the Parent Company
Only Financial Statements for Small Holding Companies (Form FR Y-9SP), as of December 31, 2021,
has been audited by BKD LLP, an independent public accounting firm, as stated in their report dated
March 23, 2022.

Mr. Michael O’Rourke
President, Independent Bankers Financial Corporation
President and Chief Executive Officer, TIB, National Association

Mr. Curtis Harvey
Vice President and Treasurer, Independent Bankers Financial Corporation
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, TIB, National Association

Mrs. Terri Blanton
Senior Vice President and Director of Financial Reporting, TIB, National Association

Mr. Kyle R. Garner
Senior Vice President and Director of Internal Audit, TIB, National Association
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Independent Bankers Financial Corporation and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheets
December 31, 2021 and 2020
(Dollar amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)

2021

Assets
Cash and due from banks
Interest-bearing deposits in banks
Federal funds sold and securities purchased under
agreements to resell

$

2020

71,045
2,279,618

$

47,036
2,020,607

9,405

13,843

2,360,068

2,081,486

342,370

263,276

5,749

15,464

1,130,324

1,265,001

22,148

22,759

4,893

3,581

150

954

Interest receivable

5,978

6,626

Deferred income taxes

8,363

7,847

Cash and cash equivalents
Available-for-sale securities
Loans held for sale
Loans, net of allowance for loan losses of $30,003 and
$30,600 at 2021 and 2020, respectively
Premises and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation
of $15,551 and $13,823 at 2021 and 2020, respectively
Federal Reserve and Federal Home Loan Bank stock
Foreclosed assets held for sale

Mortgage servicing rights

-

Cash surrender value of life insurance
Goodwill
Core deposits and other intangibles
Other
Total Assets

The Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
are an integral part of these statements.

$

6

736

67,084

61,656

2,000

2,000

479

701

36,085

26,558

3,985,691

$

3,758,645

Independent Bankers Financial Corporation and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheets (Continued)
December 31, 2021 and 2020
(Dollar amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)

Liabilities
Deposits
Demand
Interest-bearing

$

Total deposits
Short-term borrowings
Other borrowings
Derivatives
Interest payable and other liabilities
Total liabilities
Shareholders' Equity
Common stock, $10 par value; 5,000,000 shares authorized,
1,118,821 and 1,118,822 shares issued and outstanding
in 2021 and 2020, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Total shareholders' equity
Total Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity

The Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
are an integral part of these statements.

2020

2021

Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity

$

7

751,988
2,732,851

$

533,864
2,705,266

3,484,839

3,239,130

111,493
30,000
1,099
34,621

183,811
5,049
30,042

3,662,052

3,458,032

11,188
32,842
274,238
5,371

11,188
32,842
248,955
7,628

323,639

300,613

3,985,691

$

3,758,645

Independent Bankers Financial Corporation and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Income
Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020
(Dollar amounts in thousands)
Interest Income
Loans, including fees, taxable
Loans, including fees, tax exempt
Securities, taxable
Securities, tax exempt
Federal funds sold and securities purchased under
agreements to resell
Deposits with financial institutions
Other

2021
$

2020

34,065
8,807
6,004
87

$

42,482
8,095
7,163
68

180
3,467
172

323
6,333
159

52,782

64,623

10,323
96
505

15,550
346
-

10,924

15,896

41,858

48,727

495

18,125

Net Interest Income After Provision for
Loan Losses

41,363

30,602

Noninterest Income
Credit card fees
Safekeeping fees
Customer security transaction fees
Audit and loan review fees
Gain on sale of loans
Other

40,940
4,120
10,768
2,534
4,515
15,794

37,863
3,900
10,261
2,534
8,493
12,352

Total noninterest income

78,671

75,403

Total interest income
Interest Expense
Deposits
Short-term borrowings
Other borrowings
Total interest expense
Net Interest Income
Provision for Loan Losses

The Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
are an integral part of these statements.
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Independent Bankers Financial Corporation and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Income (Continued)
Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020
(Dollar amounts in thousands)
2021
Noninterest Expense
Credit card
Salaries and employee benefits
Premises, furniture and equipment
Telephone
Software
Mortgage operations
Decrease in fair value of mortgage servicing rights
Professional fees
Other

$

Total noninterest expense
Income Before Income Taxes
Provision for Income Taxes
Net Income

The Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
are an integral part of these statements.

$

9

2020

15,863
42,786
4,096
2,008
5,326
1,206
736
1,269
10,251

$

15,652
40,233
4,258
2,111
4,474
1,309
1,059
1,287
8,919

83,541

79,302

36,493

26,703

5,616

3,751

30,877

$

22,952

Independent Bankers Financial Corporation and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020
(Dollar amounts in thousands)

2021
Net Income

$

Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Change in fair value of interest rate swap contracts
Net tax effect
Change in fair value of interest rate swap contracts, net
Change in unrealized gains/(losses) on available-for-sale securities
Net tax effect
Unrealized gains/(losses) on
available-for-sale securities, net
Total other comprehensive income (loss)
Comprehensive Income

The Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
are an integral part of these statements.

$

10

30,877

2020
$

22,952

3,950
(829)

(2,740)
575

3,121

(2,165)

(6,808)
1,430

7,360
(1,546)

(5,378)

5,814

(2,257)

3,649

28,620

$

26,601

Independent Bankers Financial Corporation and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity
Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020
(Dollar amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)
Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Common
Stock
Balance as of January 1, 2020

$

Net income
Other comprehensive income
Purchase and retirement of common stock
(10 shares)
Issuance of common stock (5 shares)
Common stock dividends declared and paid
($5.00 per share)

32,843

(2)
1

231,597

Total
Shareholders'
Equity

$

$

3,979

279,607

22,952
-

3,649

-

-

(2)
1

(5,594)

-

(5,594)

22,952
3,649

-

-

11,188

32,842

248,955

7,628

-

-

30,877
-

(2,257)

-

-

(1)
1

(5,594)

-

(5,594)

-

(1)
1

$

$

-

-

Net income
Other comprehensive income (loss)
Purchase and retirement of common stock
(5 shares)
Issuance of common stock (4 shares)
Common stock dividends declared and paid
($5.00 per share)

The Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
are an integral part of these statements.

$

-

Balance as of December 31, 2020

Balance as of December 31, 2021

11,188

Retained
Earnings

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income

11,188

$

11

32,842

$

274,238

$

5,371

300,613
30,877
(2,257)

$

323,639

Independent Bankers Financial Corporation and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020
(Dollar amounts in thousands)

Operating Activities
Net income
Items not requiring (providing) cash:
Depreciation and amortization
Provision for loan losses
Deferred income taxes
Deferred compensation and stock-based
compensation expense
Change in fair value of mortgage servicing rights
Net gains on sale of loans
Net realized losses on available-for-sale securities
Loss on write-downs of other real estate owned
Net realized other gains
Originations and purchases of loans held for sale
Proceeds from sale of loans held for sale
Change in:
Interest receivable
Other assets
Interest payable and other liabilities
Net cash provided by operating activities
Investing Activities
Purchases of available-for-sale securities
Proceeds from maturities, calls and pay downs of
available-for-sale securities
Proceeds from the sale of available-for-sale securities
Purchase of Federal Home Loan Bank stock
Proceeds from Federal Home Loan Bank stock
Net change in loans
Purchase of cash surrender value of life insurance
Purchase of other investments
Proceeds from the sale of other real estate owned
Proceeds from the sale of fixed assets
Purchase of premises and equipment
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities

The Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
are an integral part of these statements.
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2020

2021
$

30,877
5,197
495
85

$

22,952
4,970
18,125
(3,498)

3,106
736
(4,515)
135
(47)
(230,087)
244,317

2,388
1,059
(8,493)
1
400
(36)
(333,046)
335,591

648
(4,700)
1,474

1,708
(1,348)
(13,820)

47,721

26,953

(1,177,642)

(1,003,300)

1,088,974
(1,312)
133,970
(4,000)
(6,659)
881
47
(1,195)

82,516
999,985
(85)
5
(89,159)
(4,000)
(8,502)
36
(1,524)

33,064

(24,028)

Independent Bankers Financial Corporation and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (Continued)
Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020
(Dollar amounts in thousands)

2020

2021
Financing Activities
Net change in deposits
Proceeds from other borrowings
Net change in federal funds purchased and securities
sold under agreements to repurchase
Purchase and retirement of common stock
Proceeds from issuance of common stock
Dividends paid

$

245,709
30,000

$

(72,318)
(1)
1
(5,594)

Net cash provided by financing activities
Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Year

945,971
86,731
(2)
1
(5,594)

197,797

1,027,107

278,582

1,030,032

2,081,486

1,051,454

Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Year

$

2,360,068

$

2,081,486

Supplemental Cash Flows Information
Interest paid
Income taxes paid

$

10,926
7,961

$

16,081
7,424

The Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
are an integral part of these statements.
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Independent Bankers Financial Corporation and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2021 and 2020
(Dollar amounts in thousands)

NOTE 1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES
Nature of Operations
Independent Bankers Financial Corporation and Subsidiaries (the Corporation) is a bank
holding company whose principal activity is the ownership and management of its wholly owned
subsidiary, TIB, National Association (the Bank). The Bank is defined by statute as a "bankers'
bank." The Bank provides services to financial institutions in the United States, many of which
are shareholders of the Corporation. The bank competes with other financial institutions and
bank-service organizations. The statute requires shareholders to be depository institutions or
holding companies for depository institutions. The Federal Reserve System and Office of the
Comptroller of the Currency federally regulate the Corporation and Bank, respectively.
Principles of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Independent Bankers Financial
Corporation (IBFC) and the Bank. In 2021, two nonbanking subsidiaries, ALX Consulting, Inc.
(ALX) and TIB Service Company dba TIB Bequeaith Banking Solutions, were terminated and
absorbed into the Bank. There was no impact of this change in the consolidated financial
statements for the years ending December 31, 2021 or 2020. The Corporation eliminated all
significant intercompany accounts and transactions in consolidation.
Reclassification
Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior year financial statements to conform to the
current year presentation. Such reclassifications had no effect on net income or shareholders’
equity.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes.
Actual results could differ from those estimates.
Estimates susceptible to significant change include the allowance for loan losses, valuation of
real estate acquired in foreclosures, mortgage servicing rights, deferred tax assets,
other-than-temporary impairments and fair values of financial instruments.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash equivalents consist primarily of cash items, amounts due from banks, interest-bearing
deposits, federal funds sold and securities purchased under agreements to resell all with
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Independent Bankers Financial Corporation and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2021 and 2020
(Dollar amounts in thousands)

original maturities within three months.
established by management.

Counterparties comply with credit risk parameters

At December 31, 2021, the Corporation had bank accounts exceeding FDIC insured limits by
approximately $166,412.
Overnight federal funds sold are uncollateralized loans to other financial institutions.
Interest-bearing Deposits in Banks
Interest-bearing deposits in banks mature within 90 days and are carried at cost.
Securities
Management determines the classification of securities as available-for-sale, held-to-maturity, or
trading when purchased based on the intent and objective of the investment and the ability to
hold to maturity. Fair values of securities are based on quoted market prices where available. If
quoted market prices are not available, estimated fair values are based on quoted market prices
of comparable securities. The Corporation had only available-for-sale securities at the report
date.
Securities available-for-sale are reported at fair value, with unrealized gains and losses reported
as a separate component of shareholders’ equity and other comprehensive income (loss), net of
taxes. These securities can be sold in response to interest rate changes, changes in
prepayment risk, and other similar reasons. Securities are designated as available-for-sale for
earnings and liquidity purposes.
Interest on investment securities is recorded as income from securities as earned. Purchased
premiums and discounts are amortized and accreted, respectively, to interest income from
securities using a prospective method. Realized gains and losses are recorded as net security
gains (losses). Gains and losses on the sale of securities are determined using the specific
identification method.
For debt securities with fair values below amortized cost when the Corporation does not intend
to sell a debt security, and it is more likely than not the Corporation will not have to sell the
security before recovery of its cost basis, the credit component of an other-than-temporary
impairment of a debt security is recognized in earnings and the remaining portion in other
comprehensive income (loss).
Loans Held for Sale
Mortgage loans are purchased from respondent banks and resold in the secondary market in
the normal course of the Corporation’s business. The loans are classified as held-for-sale and
carried at the lower of cost or fair value in the aggregate. Write-downs to fair value are
recognized through a valuation allowance as a charge to noninterest expense at the time the
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Independent Bankers Financial Corporation and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2021 and 2020
(Dollar amounts in thousands)

decline in value occurs. Gains and losses arising from individual loan buying and selling activity
are determined using the specific identification method and are recorded in noninterest income.
Loans
Loans the Corporation has the intent and ability to hold for the foreseeable future, or until
maturity or payoff, are reported at their outstanding principal balances adjusted for charge-offs
and the allowance for loan losses.
For loans amortized at cost, interest income is accrued based on the unpaid principal balance.
Interest accrual is discontinued when the loan is 90 days past due unless the credit is
well-secured and in process of collection. When collection of principal or interest is doubtful,
loans are put on nonaccrual or charged-off.
Interest accrued but not collected for these loans is reversed against interest income. The
interest is accounted for on the cash-basis or cost-recovery method, until qualifying for return to
accrual. Accrual status is restored when all the principal and interest amounts contractually due
are brought current and future payments are reasonably assured.
Allowance for Loan Losses
The allowance for loan losses is established through provisions for loan losses charged against
income. Provisions to the allowance for loan losses are based on management’s analysis and
evaluation of the loan portfolio. Management considers identification of problem credits, internal
and external factors affecting collectability, relevant credit exposure, inherent risks in sector
lending and collateral values. In management’s estimation, the allowance is adequate to absorb
probable credit losses on existing loans that may become uncollectible and probable credit
losses inherent in the remainder of the loan portfolio. This estimate is highly subjective and
subjected to several internal and external reviews.
The allowance consists of allocated and general components. The allocated component relates
to loans classified as impaired. For those loans classified as impaired, an allowance is
established when the discounted cash flows (or collateral value or observable market price) of
the impaired loan is lower than the carrying value of that loan. The general component covers
non-classified loans and is based on historical charge-off experience and expected loss given
the default rate derived from the Corporation's internal risk rating process. Other adjustments
may be made to the allowance for pools of loans after an assessment of internal or external
influences on credit quality not fully reflected in the historical loss or risk rating data. Allocations
of the allowance may be made for specific loans, but the entire allowance is available for any
loan that, in management’s judgement, should be charged off.
A loan is impaired when principal or interest probably cannot be collected according to the
contractual terms of the loan agreement or through its collateral. Loans that experience
insignificant payment delays and payment shortfalls are not classified as impaired. Impairment
is measured on a loan-by-loan basis for commercial and construction loans by either the
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Independent Bankers Financial Corporation and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2021 and 2020
(Dollar amounts in thousands)

present value of expected future cash flows discounted at the loan's effective interest rate, the
loan's obtainable market price or the fair value of the collateral if the loan is collateral
dependent.
Loans with similar risk characteristics are collectively evaluated for impairment based on the
group's historical loss experience adjusted for changes in trends, conditions and other relevant
factors that affect repayment of the loans.
Loan losses are charged against the allowance when management believes a loan balance is
partially or wholly uncollectable. Subsequent recoveries are credited to the allowance.
Premises and Equipment
Depreciable assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is charged
to expense using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets.
Leasehold improvements are capitalized and depreciated using the straight-line method over
the respective lease term or the estimated useful lives of the improvements, whichever is
shorter. Expected terms include lease option periods if exercising such options is reasonably
assured.
The estimated useful lives for each major depreciable classification of premises and equipment
are:
Buildings
Building improvements
Leasehold improvements
Furniture and equipment

‑ 30 years
10 ‑ 20 years
5 10 years
3 10 years

The Corporation leases certain office facilities and office equipment under operating leases. In
2019, the Corporation adopted certain accounting standard updates related to accounting for
leases (ASC 842). The standard requires lessees to recognize a lease liability, which is a
lessee‘s obligation to make lease payments arising from a lease, measured on a discounted
basis; and a right-of-use asset, which is an asset that represents the lessee’s right to use, or
control the use of, a specified asset for the lease term. The Corporation elected the package of
practical expedients which includes an exemption from recording leases with a term of less than
12 months. The Corporation has adopted a capitalization threshold when evaluating the
requirement to recognize leases on the balance sheet as permitted under the standard. As of
December 31, 2021 and 2020, the present value of operating leases was below the
Corporation’s established capitalization threshold. Management reviews the threshold and the
present value of operating leases annually to determine materiality and, until such time the
aggregate of all leases exceeds the Corporation’s capitalization threshold, leases are expensed
as incurred.
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Long-lived Asset Impairment
Management evaluates the recoverability of the carrying value of long-lived assets whenever
events or circumstances indicate the carrying amount may not be recoverable. If a long-lived
asset is tested for recoverability and the undiscounted estimated future cash flows expected to
result from the use and eventual disposition of the asset is less than the carrying amount of the
asset, the asset cost is adjusted to fair value and an impairment loss is recognized as the
amount by which the carrying amount of a long-lived asset exceeds its fair value.
No asset impairment was recognized during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020.
Federal Reserve Bank of Dallas and Federal Home Loan Bank of Dallas Stock
Federal Reserve Bank of Dallas and Federal Home Loan Bank of Dallas (FHLB) stock are
required investments for membership. The required investment in the common stock is based
on a predetermined formula. The stock is carried at cost and periodically evaluated for
impairment.
Foreclosed Assets Held for Sale
Assets acquired through, or in lieu of, loan foreclosure are held for sale and are initially recorded
at fair value less costs to sell at the date of foreclosure, establishing a new cost basis. After
foreclosure, the Corporation periodically receives valuations on the assets and makes any
adjustments to carry at the lower of carrying amount or fair value, less costs to sell. Revenue
and expenses from operations and changes in the valuation allowance are included in net
income or expense from foreclosed assets.
Equity Investments
The Corporation measures equity investments, other than investments that qualify for the equity
method of accounting, at fair value with changes recognized in net income. Investments in
private equity funds and hedge funds are recorded at net asset value (NAV), as a practical
expedient, to determine fair value of the investments. Gains and losses on the sale of equity
investments are recorded on the trade date and are determined using the specific identification
method.
The Corporation uses the equity method of accounting for investments in entities in which it has
an ownership interest and does not exercise a controlling interest in the operating and financial
policies of an investee and for variable interest entities for which it is not considered the primary
beneficiary. Under this method, an investment is carried at the acquisition cost, plus the
Corporation’s equity in undistributed earnings or losses since acquisition. Losses due to
impairment are recorded when it is determined that the investment no longer has the ability to
recover its carrying amount.
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Goodwill
Goodwill is evaluated annually for impairment or more frequently if impairment indicators are
present. A qualitative assessment is performed to determine whether the existence of events or
circumstances leads to a determination that it is more likely than not the fair value of a reporting
unit is less than the carrying amount, including goodwill. If, based on the evaluation, it is
determined to be more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than the
carrying value, then goodwill is tested further for impairment. The quantitative impairment test
consists of calculating the fair value of a reporting unit and comparing it to the carrying amount,
including goodwill. The goodwill impairment loss, if any, is measured as the amount by which
the carrying amount of a reporting unit, including goodwill, exceeds its fair value. Subsequent
increases in goodwill value are not recognized in the consolidated financial statements.
Intangible Assets
Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized using the straight-line basis over periods ranging
from three to ten years. Such assets are periodically evaluated for recoverability of their
carrying values.
Revenue Recognition
The Company’s credit card business generates significant fees from its activities. The business
is organized into two segments: Merchant Acquirer and Issuer. The Merchant Acquirer unit
provides card network access, payment processing, and related services to merchants. The
Issuer unit serves financial institutions, and their referrals, with an assortment of credit card
products and services commonly used in the marketplace.
Under ASC 606 Revenue from Contracts with Customers, the Company reports net revenues
when appropriate. Net revenue is gross revenue less network processing fees, association
fees, and others charged by the agent networks in fulfilling their electronic payment processing
responsibilities. Other revenues and expenses are incurred as principal and those transactions
are recorded gross. The adoption of ASC 606 did not impact the Company’s net income but
materially impacts the Company’s noninterest interest income line item.

Merchant and Issuer Units
Gross revenues
Network and other expenses
Net revenues

Year ended
December 31, 2021

Year ended
December 31, 2020

$

71,685
(30,745)

$

64,978
(27,115)

$

40,940

$

37,863
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Derivatives
The Corporation's hedging policies permit the use of various derivative financial instruments to
manage interest rate risk or to hedge specified assets and liabilities. Derivatives are recognized
as assets and liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets and measured at fair value. For
exchange-traded contracts, fair value is based on quoted market prices.
For
nonexchange-traded contracts, fair value is based on dealer quotes, pricing models, discounted
cash flow methodologies or similar techniques for which the determination of fair value may
require significant management judgment or estimation. To qualify for hedge accounting,
derivatives must be highly effective at reducing the risk associated with the exposure being
hedged and must be designated as a hedge at the inception of the derivative contract. A hedge
is considered to be highly effective when the change in fair value of the derivative hedging
instrument is within 80 percent to 120 percent of the opposite change in the fair value of the
hedged item. If certain criteria are met, cash flow hedges may be accounted for under the
simplified approach (ACS 815). Under the simplified approach, perfect hedge effectiveness can
be assumed. If derivative instruments are designated as hedges of fair values, both the change
in the fair value of the hedges and the hedged items are included in current earnings. Fair value
adjustments related to cash flow hedges are recorded in other comprehensive income (loss).
During the life of the hedge, the Corporation formally assesses whether derivatives designated
as hedging instruments continue to be highly effective in offsetting changes in the fair value or
cash flows of hedged items. If it is determined that a hedge has ceased to be highly effective,
the Corporation will discontinue hedge accounting prospectively and the derivative instrument is
reclassified to a trading position recorded at fair value.
Mortgage Servicing Assets
Mortgage servicing assets are recognized separately when rights are acquired through the
purchase or sale of financial assets. Under the servicing assets and liabilities accounting
guidance (ASC 860-50), servicing rights resulting from the sale of loans purchased by the
Corporation are initially measured at fair value at the date of transfer. Subsequently, the
Corporation measured each class of servicing asset using the fair value method. Under the fair
value method, the servicing rights are carried in the consolidated balance sheets at fair value
and the changes in fair value are reported in earnings in the period in which the changes occur.
Fair value is based on market prices for comparable mortgage servicing contracts, when
available, or on a valuation model that calculates the present value of estimated future net
servicing income. The valuation model incorporates assumptions that market participants would
use in estimating future net servicing income, such as the cost to service, the discount rate, the
custodial earnings rate, an inflation rate, ancillary income, prepayment speeds, and default rates
and losses. These variables change from quarter to quarter as market conditions and projected
interest rates change, and may adversely impact the value of the mortgage servicing rights and
may cause an increase in noninterest expense.
In 2018 the Corporation sold the majority of its servicing portfolio, with the exception of a small
portfolio that the purchaser elected not to purchase. Due to the fact that the servicing portfolio
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remaining on the Corporation’s balance sheet was related to this residual portfolio of loans, the
Corporation decided to amortize the remaining servicing asset to $0 during the year ended
December 31, 2021.
Servicing fee income is recorded for fees earned for servicing loans. The fees are based on a
contractual percentage of the outstanding principal or a fixed amount per loan and are recorded
as income when earned.
Transactions as Agent
The Corporation acts as an agent in facilitating overnight investment transactions between
participating respondent banks and the Federal Reserve System. Transactions with the Federal
Reserve System are facilitated via the Excess Balance Account (EBA) pursuant to Regulation D
for correspondent banks and similarly purposed institutions. The Corporation acts as
intermediary for these transactions but is not otherwise obligated by the transaction. The
Corporation's consolidated financial statements do not reflect these transactions except for the
fees earned. At December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Corporation was agent for participating
respondent banks on EBA funds totaling $7,601,232 and $5,327,111, respectively.
Transfers of Financial Assets
Transfers of financial assets are accounted for as sales when control over the assets has been
surrendered. Control over transferred assets is deemed surrendered when (1) the assets have
been isolated from the Corporation and put presumptively beyond the reach of the transferor
and its creditors, even in bankruptcy or other receivership; and (2) the transferee obtains the
right (free of conditions that constrain it from taking advantage of that right) to pledge or
exchange the transferred assets; and (3) the Corporation does not maintain effective control
over the transferred assets through an agreement to repurchase them before their maturity or
the ability to unilaterally cause the holder to return specific assets.
Income Taxes
Income taxes are accounted for in accordance with income tax accounting guidance (ASC 740,
Income Taxes). The guidance results in two components of income tax expense: current and
deferred. Current income tax expense reflects taxes to be paid or refunded for the current
period.
The Corporation determines deferred income taxes using the liability (or balance sheet) method.
Under this method, the net deferred tax asset or liability is based on the tax effects of the
differences between the book and tax basis of assets and liabilities, and enacted changes in tax
rates and laws are recognized in the period in which they occur. Deferred income tax expense
results from changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities between periods. Deferred tax assets
are reduced by a valuation allowance if, based on the weight of evidence available, it is more
likely than not that some portion or all of a deferred tax asset will not be realized.
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Tax positions are recognized if it is more likely than not, based on the technical merits, the tax
position will be realized or sustained upon examination. The term "more likely than not" means
a likelihood of over 50 percent; the terms examined and upon examination, also include
resolution of the related appeals or litigation processes, if any. A tax position meeting the
more-likely-than-not recognition threshold is initially and subsequently measured as the largest
tax benefit that has a greater than 50 percent likelihood of being realized upon settlement with a
taxing authority with full knowledge of all relevant information. Determining whether or not a tax
position has met the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold considers the facts,
circumstances and information available at the reporting date and is subject to management's
judgment. With a few exceptions, the Corporation is no longer subject to U.S. Federal, state
and local tax examinations by tax authorities for years before 2019.
The Corporation recognizes interest and penalties on income taxes as a component of income
tax expense.
The Corporation files consolidated income tax returns with its subsidiaries.
Comprehensive Income
Comprehensive income consists of net income and other comprehensive income (loss), net of
applicable income taxes. Other comprehensive income (loss) includes unrealized gains and
losses on available-for-sale securities and unrealized and realized gains and losses in derivative
financial instruments that qualify for hedge accounting.
Accounting Standards Updates
ASU 2019-12, Income Taxes, Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes (Topic 740). In
December 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-12 to simplify the accounting for income taxes by
removing certain exceptions to the approach for intraperiod tax allocation, the methodology for
calculating income taxes in an interim period and the recognition for deferred tax liabilities for
outside basis differences. This update is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within
those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2020. The adoption of ASU 2019-12 did not
have a material effect on our financial statements.
ASU 2020-01, “Investments – Equity Securities (Topic 321), Investments Equity Method and
Joint Ventures (Topic 323), and Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815)”. ASU 2020-01 clarifies
the Interactions between Topic 321, Topic 323, and Topic 815. This ASU clarifies the
interaction of the accounting for equity securities under Topic 321 and investments accounted
for under the equity method of accounting in Topic 323 and the accounting for certain forward
contracts and purchased options accounted for under Topic 815. The amendments in this ASU
are effective for annual periods, and interim periods within those annual periods, beginning after
December 15, 2020. The Corporation adopted this guidance on January 1, 2021 and its
adoption did not have a material effect on our financial statements.
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ASU 2021-01, Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848). In January 2021, the FASB issued ASU
No. 2021-01 to clarify the scope of Topic 848 so that derivatives affected by the discounting
transition are explicitly eligible for certain optional expedients and exceptions in Topic 848. This
update additionally clarified that a receive-variable-rate, pay-variable-rate cross-currency
interest rate swap may be considered an eligible hedging instrument in a net investment hedge
if both legs of the swap do not have the same repricing intervals and dates as a result of
reference rate reform. This update was effective upon issuance and generally can be applied
through December 31, 2022. See the discussion regarding the adoption of ASU 2020-04 below.
ASU 2020-04, “Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Facilitation of the Effects of Reference
Rate Reform on Financial Reporting.” ASU 2020-04 provides optional expedients and
exceptions for accounting related to contracts, hedging relationships and other transactions
affected by reference rate reform if certain criteria are met. ASU 2020-04 applies only to
contracts, hedging relationships, and other transactions that reference LIBOR or another
reference rate expected to be discontinued because of reference rate reform and do not apply
to contract modifications made and hedging relationships entered into or evaluated after
December 31, 2022, except for hedging relationships existing as of December 31, 2022, that an
entity has elected certain optional expedients for and that are retained through the end of the
hedging relationship. ASU 2020-04 was effective upon issuance and generally can be applied
through December 31, 2022. The adoption of the guidance is not expected to have a material
effect on our results of operations or financial position.
ASU 2016-13, “Financial Instruments - Credit Losses (Topic 326)”: Measurement of Credit
Losses on Financial Instruments.” ASU 2016-13 requires earlier measurement of credit losses,
expands the range of information considered in determining expected credit losses and
enhances disclosures. The main objective of ASU 2016-13 is to provide financial statement
users with more decision-useful information about the expected credit losses on financial
instruments and other commitments to extend credit held by a reporting entity at each reporting
date. The amendments replace the incurred loss impairment methodology in current US
GAAP with a methodology that reflects expected credit losses and requires consideration of a
broader range of reasonable and supportable information to inform credit loss estimates.
ASU 2019-10 extended the effective date for ASU 2016-13 for non-SEC filers and small
reporting companies. ASU 2016-13 will be effective for the Corporation on January 1, 2023.
The Corporation has formed a cross functional implementation team that has initiated data
gathering and begun assessment to support forecasting of asset quality, loan balances and net
charge-offs. The Corporation expects to recognize a one-time cumulative effect adjustment to
the allowance for loan losses as of the beginning of the first reporting period in which the new
standard is effective, but has not yet determined the extent of any such one-time adjustment or
the overall impact on its results of operations, financial position or disclosures.
NOTE 2. RESTRICTION ON CASH AND DUE FROM BANKS
In response to COVID-19, the Federal Reserve Bank reduced the reserve requirements to zero
on March 15, 2020, thus there were no reserves on deposits with the Federal Reserve Bank at
December 31, 2021 or 2020.
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NOTE 3. SECURITIES
The amortized cost and approximate fair values, with gross unrealized gains and losses, of
available-for-sale securities are as follows:
Amortized
Cost

Gross
Unrealized
Gains

Gross
Unrealized
Losses

Fair Value

$

$

$

December 31, 2021
Mortgage-backed U.S Government
sponsored enterprises (GSEs) residential

$

327,970

8,890

Mortgage-backed U.S Government
sponsored enterprises (GSEs) commercial

3,295

-

Municipal securities

3,207

220

1,177

35

335,683

3,260

-

3,427

$

334,472

$

9,110

$

1,212

$

342,370

$

245,300

$

14,397

$

-

$

259,697

December 31, 2020
Mortgage-backed U.S Government
sponsored enterprises (GSEs) residential
Municipal securities

3,270
$

248,570

309
$

14,706

$

-

3,579
$

263,276

Mortgage-backed securities owned by the Corporation are backed by pools of residential
mortgages insured or guaranteed by the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation (FHLMC),
the Government National Mortgage Corporation (GNMA) or the Federal National Mortgage
Corporation (FNMA). Mortgage-backed securities are not due at a single due date.
The contractual maturity of the one municipal security owned by the Corporation at December
31, 2021 was in 2030. Expected maturities may differ from contractual maturities because
issuers may have the right to call or repay obligations.
At December 31, 2021, there were no holdings of securities of any one issuer, other than the
U.S. Government and its government sponsored entities, in an amount greater than 10 percent
of shareholders' equity.
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Securities with estimated fair values of $136,979 and $224,237 at December 31, 2021 and
2020, respectively, were pledged to secure securities sold under agreements to repurchase or
lines of credit as permitted by law.
There we no sales of available-for-sale securities in 2021. Gross losses of $1 resulting from
sales of available-for-sale securities were realized for 2020.
This table shows available-for-sale securities with unrealized losses not deemed
other-than-temporarily impaired, segregated by investment class and time in a continuous
unrealized loss position at December 31, 2021. There were no available-for-sale securities in a
continuous unrealized loss position at December 31, 2020.

December 31, 2021

Less Than 12 Months
Unrealized
Fair Value
Losses

12 Months or More
Unrealized
Fair Value
Losses

Total
Unrealized
Fair Value
Losses

Mortgage-backed securities
U.S. GSEs - residential

$ 134,896

$

1,177

$

-

$

-

$ 134,896

$

1,177

Mortgage-backed securities
U.S. GSEs - commercial

$

$

35

$

-

$

-

$

$

35

3,260

3,260

NOTE 4. SECURITIES PURCHASED UNDER AGREEMENTS TO RESELL
Management enters into purchases of securities under agreements to resell substantially
identical securities in the normal course of business.
The amounts advanced under these agreements are recorded as assets in the consolidated
balance sheets. The securities used in the transaction are taken into possession in book entry
form under a custodial agreement. These agreements specify management’s right to request
additional collateral, based on its monitoring of the fair value of the underlying securities. There
were no resell agreements outstanding at December 31, 2021 or December 31, 2020. The
maximum and minimum amounts of outstanding resell agreements during 2021 were $245,000
and $0, respectively. The interest rate on these agreements is based on the federal funds rate
and ranged from 0.50% to 0.75% in 2021.
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NOTE 5. LOANS AND ALLOWANCE FOR LOAN LOSSES
Classes of loans at December 31, 2021 and 2020 include:
2021

Correspondent loans
Bank stock
Real estate
Mortgage warehouse
Commercial and industrial
Consumer
Other

$

Municipal
Credit card
Mortgage
Gross loans

184,291
204,365
154,418
36,486
202
7,020
586,782

2020
$

417,649
150,942
4,954
1,160,327

Less allowance for loan losses

369,323
141,058
6,226
1,295,601

(30,003)

Net loans

$

1,130,324

185,429
295,002
263,530
27,168
1,357
6,508
778,994

(30,600)
$

1,265,001

The potential for substantial losses continues as a result of the world-wide COVID-19 pandemic
and its impact on the U.S. workforce and economy. Given the unpredictable nature of the
pandemic, it is difficult to forecast the degree and timing of a return to normalcy. The losses in
various asset classes will largely depend on the timing and strength of the economic recovery.
However, offsetting a certain degree of risk is the geographic diversity of the loan portfolio and
each state’s approach to reestablishing its path to economic normalcy. Any losses in the
Corporation’s various asset classes cannot be predicted at this time as events continue to
unfold relative to this unprecedented world-wide event. Therefore, until information indicates a
strong and stable recovery is underway, management believes it is prudent to maintain a
COVID-19 reserve for unknown risk through an unallocated reserve. Management chose a
COVID-19 reserve methodology based on the loan loss history from the 2009 recession. The
methodology includes analyzing the peak loss rate periods for the largest asset class and
averaging those periods to obtain a loss rate. Additionally, management believes any losses
due to the pandemic will not be as severe as the 2009 recession so an 80 percent loss factor
was assumed after the application of the average loss rate.
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The tables below present the balance in the allowance for loan losses and the recorded
investment in loans based on portfolio segment and impairment method as of December 31,
2021 and 2020.

Allowance for loan losses
Balance, beginning of year
Provision charged
to expense
Losses charged off
Recoveries

Bank Stock

Real Estate

Other
Correspondent

$

$

$

3,331
357
-

6,783
(1,465)
-

717

2021
Municipal

$

198
-

365

Mortgage

$

112
-

-

Balance, end of year

$

3,688

$

5,318

$

915

$

477

$

Ending balance
individually evaluated
for impairment

$

-

$

-

$

-

$

-

$

Ending balance
collectively evaluated
for impairment

$

3,688

$

5,318

$

915

$

477

$

$ 184,291

$

204,365

$

198,126

$

417,649

Ending balance
individually evaluated
for impairment

$

$

Ending balance
collectively evaluated
for impairment

$ 184,291

Loans
Ending balance

-

$

-

204,365

$

$

-

198,126

$

$

27

-

417,649

70

Credit Card

$

(8)

62

2,829

Unallocated

$

1,301
(1,514)
422

16,505

Total

$

-

30,600
495
(1,514)
422

$

3,038

$

16,505

$

30,003

$

-

$

-

$

-

62

$

3,038

$

16,505

$

30,003

$

4,954

$

150,942

$

-

$

1,160,327

$

149

$

$

-

$

149

$

4,805

$

$

-

$

1,160,178

-

-

150,942
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Allowance for loan losses
Balance, beginning of year
Provision charged
to expense
Losses charged off
Recoveries

Bank Stock

Real Estate

Other
Correspondent

$

$

$

4,065
(734)
-

6,646
(162)
(240)
539

817

2020
Municipal

$

(100)
-

276

-

Mortgage

$

89

$

3,331

$

6,783

$

717

$

365

$

Ending balance
individually evaluated
for impairment

$

-

$

-

$

-

$

-

$

Ending balance
collectively evaluated
for impairment

$

3,331

$

6,783

$

717

$

365

$

$ 185,429

$ 295,002

$

298,563

$

369,323

Ending balance
individually evaluated
for impairment

$

$

$

Ending balance
collectively evaluated
for impairment

$ 185,429

-

-

$ 295,002

$

-

298,563

$

$

-

369,323

$

(14)
-

Balance, end of year

Loans
Ending balance

84

Credit Card

70

2,203

Unallocated

$

2,541
(2,340)
425

-

Total

$

16,505
-

14,091
18,125
(2,580)
964

$

2,829

$

16,505

$

30,600

$

-

$

-

$

-

70

$

2,829

$

16,505

$

30,600

$

6,226

$

141,058

$

-

$

1,295,601

$

153

$

$

-

$

153

$

6,073

$

$

-

$

1,295,448

-

-

141,058

Internal Risk Categories
Loan grades are numbered 1 through 9. Grades 1 through 5 are satisfactory grades. The
grade of 6, or Special Mention, represents loans of lower quality and is criticized. The grades of
7, or Substandard, and 8, or Doubtful, refer to classified assets. The grade of 9, or Loss, refers
to loans considered uncollectible. The use and application of these grades by the Bank will be
uniform and shall conform to the Bank's policy.
•

Grade 1 – A SUPERIOR graded asset is secured by highly liquid collateral. If a loan is
secured by marketable securities, it should be adequately margined. This loan grade
includes Municipal Loans with the guaranty of the Permanent School Fund. A Superior
asset should have no documentation deficiencies and minimal servicing issues.

•

Grade 2 – A STRONG graded asset is a secured loan with some form of credit
enhancement, other than liquid collateral, adequately margined. This grade will typically
apply to loans made to municipalities backed by the local taxing authority where law
requires taxes to be sufficient to cover the debt obligation (i.e. General Obligations or
Certificates of Obligations). Loans could be secured by marketable securities, but have
margins lower than those in the Superior category. Loans or revolving lines of credit made to
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finance mortgage warehouse banking activities secured by mortgage notes, further secured
by deeds of trusts, having liquid collateral able to be sold in the secondary market may also
be a Strong asset. A Strong asset should have no documentation deficiencies and minimal
servicing issues.
•

Grade 3 – A GOOD graded asset is based on an individual’s or a company’s financial
capacity and/or secured by collateral where there is no impairment to liquidation. A Good
asset may have some vulnerability to changing economic or industry conditions but is a
satisfactory risk. Loans to municipalities backed by project revenues could be in this loan
grade. Leveraged loans may also fall into this category.

•

Grade 4 – A SATISFACTORY/ACCEPTABLE graded asset is based on an individual’s or a
company’s financial capacity and/or secured by collateral where there is no impairment to
liquidation. A Satisfactory asset may have some deficiency or vulnerability above the norm,
based on adverse economic trends and/or industry conditions but is an acceptable risk with
the vulnerability noted. Borrowers typically have acceptable, but minimum debt service
coverage ratios.

•

Grade 5 – A PASS/NEEDS ATTENTION graded asset is used to identify loans which may
have one or more of these characteristics: collateral documentation deficiencies, marginal
collateral support, weak or unsupported collateral valuations, lack current or complete
financial data and/or analysis, need additional monitoring, recent changes in management
or operations, terms beyond policy guidelines, variations in balance sheet or cash
flow/operating components or trends from prior periods or forecasts, past credit problems,
high leverage, or untested performance under repayment terms, among others. This loan
grade may include loan participations with a financially weak selling bank or a selling bank
lacking the knowledge or expertise to lead the credit.

•

Grade 6 – A SPECIAL MENTION graded asset has potential weaknesses that deserve
management’s close attention. If left uncorrected, these potential weaknesses may cause
deterioration of the repayment prospects for the asset or in the institution’s credit position at
some future date. Special Mention assets are not adversely classified and do not expose an
institution to sufficient risk to warrant adverse classification.

•

Grade 7 – A SUBSTANDARD graded asset is inadequately protected by the current sound
worth and paying capacity of the obligor or of the collateral pledged, if any. Assets so
classified must have a well-defined weakness or weaknesses jeopardizing the liquidation of
the debt. They are characterized by the possibility that some loss will occur, if the
deficiencies are not corrected.

•

Grade 8 – A DOUBTFUL graded asset has all the weaknesses inherent in a substandard
loan with the added factor that the weaknesses are pronounced to a point where on the
basis of current information, and values, collection or liquidation in full is highly improbable.
The length of time an asset may be classified Doubtful is a matter of judgment.
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•

Grade 9 – Assets classified LOSS are uncollectible and of such little value their continuance
as active assets is not warranted. This classification does not necessarily indicate the asset
has absolutely no recovery or salvage value, but rather its recovery may be prolonged or not
expected. Assets classified Loss are promptly charged off.

Loan Origination Risk Management
Lending policies are designed to maximize loan income within an acceptable level of risk. A
reporting system supplements the review process by providing management with frequent
reports on credit production, credit quality, credit concentrations, credit delinquencies, and
nonperforming and potential problem credits. Diversification in the loan portfolio is a means of
managing risk associated with fluctuations in economic conditions.
Loans are generally in four primary categories:
origination and municipal.

correspondent, credit cards, mortgage

Correspondent. Correspondent lending includes bank stock, real estate, commercial and
industrial, mortgage warehouse lines, and other credit types. Correspondent loans are primarily
made based on the identified cash flows of the borrower and secondarily on the underlying
collateral. Underwriting procedures are designed to evaluate past, current and projected cash
flows to determine the ability of the borrower to repay obligations as agreed and assess the
borrower’s ethics and business acumen. Most correspondent loans are secured by the assets
being financed or other business assets. However, some short-term loans may be unsecured.
Bank stock loans are generally made to bank holding companies, control groups or individuals.
Loans to holding companies and control groups are generally for the bank capitalization,
bank/branch purchases or liquidity. These loans are generally secured by a majority of the
outstanding stock of the bank unless, underwriting determines the borrower warrants unsecured
debt. Loans are also made to individuals secured by minority interest bank stock. There is
value in this underlying collateral, but emphasis is given to the overall creditworthiness of the
borrower. Specific minimum guidelines are considered for both secured and unsecured
obligations.
Commercial real estate loans are viewed primarily as cash flow loans and secondarily as loans
secured by real estate. Commercial real estate depends largely on the successful operation of
the property securing the loan or the business conducted on the property securing the loan.
Commercial real estate loans may be more adversely affected by conditions in the real estate
markets or in the general economy. The properties securing the Corporation's commercial real
estate portfolio are diverse in terms of type and geographic location. This diversity can help
reduce the Corporation's exposure to adverse economic events that affect any single market or
industry. Management monitors and evaluates commercial real estate loans based on
collateral, geography and risk grade criteria. Within the category of commercial real estate, the
volume of construction and development loans is insignificant. As a general rule, the
Corporation avoids financing single-purpose projects unless other underwriting factors are
present to help mitigate risk. The level of commercial real estate is monitored consistent with
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regulatory guidelines with levels substantially below those guidelines. Changes in real property
values may affect the collectability of these loans, and the condition of the collateral if
foreclosed.
Mortgage warehouse borrowers generally have higher leverage and lower liquidity in relation to
monthly operating expenses. Management underwrites these loans on the borrower’s financial
capacity to service debt requirements, quality of the collateral portfolio, and short-term nature of
the participation interest in each of the residential mortgage loans secured by one-to-four family
residences before they are sold into the secondary market. Fraud risk is mitigated by a fraud
insurance policy. Management collaborates with experienced servicers in the mortgage
warehouse lending industry to purchase participation interests in mortgages.
Credit Cards. The credit card portfolio comprises unsecured consumer and business
receivables which are referrals from respondent banks.
Management has marketing
agreements with respondent banks to offer the Corporation’s card products for a fee. The
employment status of borrowers is a key risk factor affecting the collectability of these consumer
receivables.
Mortgage Origination. The majority of the residential one-to-four family real estate mortgage
loans are underwritten utilizing agency guidelines and booked to sell into the secondary market.
Risks on these loans are limited to early payment default and breaches of representations and
warranties. A few loans are held to maturity and are accommodations for Bank officers and
directors. Repayment of these loans depends primarily on the personal income and credit
rating of the borrowers. Economic conditions within certain market areas could affect property
values or personal income.
Municipal Loans. Loans are made to tax-exempt municipal entities. These entities will
primarily be governmental entities such as cities, counties, school districts and economic
development authorities, but may also include hospital districts, utility districts, universities,
colleges and private schools. These loans are General Obligations, Revenue Bonds, or
Permanent School Fund (PSF) guaranteed loans. The taxing authority of the municipalities
primarily protects these loans, although declines in property values or usage affect collectability.
Loan Review
TIB Consulting Solutions, a consulting division of the Bank, periodically assesses credit quality
and the risk identification program established by management. Results are presented to
management and the Board of Directors.

31

Independent Bankers Financial Corporation and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2021 and 2020
(Dollar amounts in thousands)

Concentrations of Credit
The Corporation lends nationwide and evaluates each credit on whether or not it meets the
terms of the lending policy regardless of location.
The following tables present the credit risk profile of the loan portfolio using the Corporation’s
internal rating system as of December 31, 2021 and 2020.

Bank Stock
Grade:
Pass (1-6)
Special Mention
Substandard
Doubtful
Loss
Total

Real Estate

Total

Municipal

Mortgage

Credit Card

Total

$

184,291
-

$

187,406
6,802
10,157
-

$

198,126
-

$

417,649
-

$

4,784
170
-

$

150,838
99
5
-

$

1,143,094
6,802
10,426
5
-

$

184,291

$

204,365

$

198,126

$

417,649

$

4,954

$

150,942

$

1,160,327

Bank Stock
Grade:
Pass (1-6)
Special Mention
Substandard
Doubtful
Loss

2021

Other
Correspondent

Real Estate

2020

Other
Correspondent

Municipal

Mortgage

Credit Card

Total

$

185,008
421
-

$

265,154
22,011
7,837
-

$

295,943
2,620
-

$

369,323
-

$

5,665
561
-

$

140,883
170
5
-

$

1,261,976
22,432
11,188
5
-

$

185,429

$

295,002

$

298,563

$

369,323

$

6,226

$

141,058

$

1,295,601

The Corporation evaluates the loan risk grading system definitions and allowance for loan loss
methodology on an ongoing basis. No significant changes were made either during 2021 and
2020, with the exception of the COVID-19 unallocated reserve discussed earlier.
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The following tables present the Corporation's loan portfolio aging analysis of the recorded
investment in loans as of December 31, 2021 and 2020:
2021
30-59 Days
Past Due
Correspondent loans:
Bank stock
Real estate
Mortgage
warehouse
Commercial and
industrial
Agriculture
Consumer
Other
Municipal
Credit card
Mortgage
Total

$

$

-

60-89 Days
Past Due

$

-

Greater Than
89 Days

$

-

Total Past
Due

$

-

Current

$

184,291
204,365

Total Loans

$

184,291
204,365

Total Loans > 90
Days and
Accruing

$

-

-

-

-

-

154,418

154,418

-

207
119

-

-

311
219

36,486
202
7,020
417,649
150,631
4,735

36,486
202
7,020
417,649
150,942
4,954

-

326

$

99
99

5
100
$

105

$

530

$

1,159,797

$

1,160,327

$

5
5

2020
30-59 Days
Past Due
Correspondent loans:
Bank stock
Real estate
Mortgage
warehouse
Commercial and
industrial
Consumer
Other
Municipal
Credit card
Mortgage
Total

$

$

-

60-89 Days
Past Due
$

-

Greater Than
89 Days
$

-

Total Past
Due
$

-

Current
$

185,429
295,002

Total Loans
$

185,429
295,002

Total Loans > 90
Days and
Accruing
$

-

-

-

-

-

263,530

263,530

-

419
126

143
-

-

593
227

27,168
1,357
6,508
369,323
140,465
5,999

27,168
1,357
6,508
369,323
141,058
6,226

-

545

$

143

31
101
$

132

$

820

$

1,294,781

$

1,295,601

$

31
31

A loan is impaired, in accordance with the impairment accounting guidance
(ASC 310-10-35-16), when based on current information and events, the Corporation will
probably be unable to collect all amounts due from the borrower under the contractual terms of
the loan. Impaired loans include nonperforming correspondent and mortgage loans, but also
include loans modified in troubled debt restructurings (TDRs).
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The following tables present impaired loans for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020:
2021
Unpaid
Principal
Balance

Recorded
Balance
Loans without a specific
valuation allowance:
Mortgage

$

Total loans without a
specific valuation allowance
Loans with a specific
valuation allowance:
Total impaired loans

$

149

$

189

Specific
Allowance
$

-

Total loans without a
specific valuation allowance
Loans with a specific
valuation allowance:
Total impaired loans

$

374

189

-

374

-

-

-

-

149

$

189

$

Unpaid
Principal
Balance

Recorded
Balance

$

$

149

2020

Loans without a specific
valuation allowance:
Real estate
Mortgage

Average
Investment
in Impaired
Loans

153

$

193

Specific
Allowance

$

-

$

374

Average
Investment
in Impaired
Loans

$

398
458

153

193

-

856

-

-

-

-

153

$

193

34

$

-

$

856

Interest
Income
Recognized
$

43
43
-

$

43

Interest
Income
Recognized

$

-

2
2

$

2
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The following table presents the Corporation's nonaccrual loans at December 31, 2021 and
2020. This table excludes performing troubled debt restructurings.
2020

2021
Mortgage
Total

100
$

100

101
$

101

At December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Corporation had loans modified in TDRs and impaired.
The modification of terms of such loans included one or a combination of the following: an
extension of maturity, a reduction of the stated interest rate or a permanent reduction of the
recorded investment in the loan.
There were no new TDR’s for the years ended December 31, 2021 or 2020.
There was one real estate loan considered a TDR for which default occurred in 2020. The
Corporation charged off $240 related to this loan.
In March 2020, the COVID-19 coronavirus was identified as a global pandemic and began
affecting the health of large populations around the world. As a result of the spread of COVID19, economic uncertainties arose which can ultimately affect the financial position, results of
operations and cash flows of the Corporation as well as the Corporation’s customers. In
response to economic concerns over COVID-19, in March 2020 the Coronavirus Aid, Relief and
Economic Security Act (CARES Act) was passed into law by Congress. The CARES Act
included relief for individual Americans, health care workers, small businesses and certain
industries hit hard by the COVID-19 pandemic. The 2021 Consolidated Appropriations Act,
passed by Congress in December 2020, extended certain provisions of the CARES Act
affecting the Corporation into 2021.
The CARES Act included several provisions designed to help financial institutions like the
Corporation in working with their customers. Section 4013 of the CARES Act, as extended,
allows a financial institution to elect to suspend generally accepted accounting principles and
regulatory determinations with respect to qualifying loan modifications related to COVID-19 that
would otherwise be categorized as a troubled debt restructuring (TDR) until January 1, 2022.
The Corporation has taken advantage of this provision to extend certain payment modifications
to loan customers in need. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Corporation has $209 and
$11,481 of outstanding loans, respectively, that were modified under the CARES Act guidance,
that remain on modified terms. The Corporation modified other loans during 2020 under the
guidance that have since returned to normal repayment status as of December 31, 2020. No
new modifications were made under this guidance in 2021.
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NOTE 6. FORECLOSED ASSETS HELD FOR SALE
Activity applicable to foreclosed assets during 2021 and 2020 includes the following:
2021
Net gain (loss) on foreclosed assets
held for sale
Net operating income/(expense)

2020

$

(22)
22

$

(400)
(135)

$

-

$

(535)

NOTE 7. PREMISES AND EQUIPMENT
Major classifications of premises and equipment, stated at cost, are as follows:
2021
Land
Buildings and improvements
Furniture and equipment
Leasehold improvements

$

2,480
25,031
9,893
295

2020
$

37,699
15,551

Less accumulated depreciation
Net premises and equipment

$

22,148

2,480
24,986
8,821
295
36,582
13,823

$

22,759

NOTE 8. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
In the normal course of business, the Corporation uses various derivative financial instruments
to manage its interest rate and market risks. These instruments have varying degrees of credit,
interest rate and market or liquidity risks. Derivative instruments are recognized as either
assets or liabilities in the Corporation's accompanying consolidated financial statements and are
measured at fair value.
Cash Flow Hedge
Interest rate swap contracts are used to mitigate interest rate risk in a rising rate environment.
The “plain vanilla” interest rate swap contracts offset some variable funding cost during rising
interest rate environments to stabilize the margin. The interest rate swap contracts are
designated as highly effective cash flow hedges due to high correlation with their hedged item.
No new swap contracts were executed in 2021 or 2020. In December 2021, the Corporation
took an optional early termination on two swap contracts with maturity dates of December 29,
2022.
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The swap contracts at December 31, 2021 and 2020, are summarized as follows:
Effective
Date

Termination
Date

December 29, 2014
December 29, 2014
December 30, 2015
December 30, 2015

December 29, 2022
December 29, 2022
December 29, 2023
December 29, 2023

Fixed
Rate

Variable
Rate

Notional
Amount

2.310%1 Month Libor Daily Rate
2.310%1 Month Libor Daily Rate
2.050%1 Month Libor Daily Rate
1.913%1 Month Libor Daily Rate

2021

50,000
50,000
50,000
25,000

Fair Value

(759)
(340)
$

(1,099)

2020
(1,107)
(1,107)
(1,937)
(898)

$

(5,049)

A liability of $1,099 and $5,049 is included in derivative liabilities at December 31, 2021 and
2020, respectively. An unrealized gain of $3,121, net of deferred tax of $829, is included in
other comprehensive income (loss) for the year ending December 31, 2021. An unrealized loss
of $2,165, net of deferred tax of $575, is included in other comprehensive income (loss) for the
years ended December 31, 2020.
Swap Collateral
There were no marketable government securities pledged as collateral related to swap
contracts at December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.
The table below presents the fair value of derivative instruments as of December 31, 2021 and
2020.
2021
Notional
Amount

2020
Notional
Amount

Fair Value

Fair Value

Interest rate derivatives designated
as cash flow hedges:
Interest rate swaps on
brokered deposits

$

75,000

$

(1,099)

$

175,000

$

(5,049)

Total derivatives

$

75,000

$

(1,099)

$

175,000

$

(5,049)

$

(1,099)

$

(5,049)

$

(1,099)

$

(5,049)

Derivative - assets (included in other assets)
Derivative - liabilities
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NOTE 9. EQUITY METHOD INVESTMENTS
The Corporation’s investments in entities accounted for under the equity method of accounting
and recorded in other assets on the consolidated balance sheets at December 31 were as
follows:
Percentage and
Type of Interest

Entity
IBC Management, LLC

20% Member

Independent Bankers Capital Fund II, L.P.

Amount of Investment
2020
2021
128

$

21.85% Limited Partner

IBC II, LLC

28% Member

Independent Bankers Capital Fund III, L.P.

14.17% Limited Partner

IBC III, LLC

25% Member

The Bank CEO Network, LLC
Total equity method investments

50% Owner

224

2,037

2,599

625

683

4,368

4,353

235

248

2,500
9,893

$

$

8,107

$

For the investments in the entities above, summarized financial information for the combined
group includes total assets of $67,424 and total liabilities of $21,415 as of December 31, 2021
and net income of $2,791 for the year ended December 31, 2021.
NOTE 10. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS
The carrying basis and accumulated amortization of recognized intangible assets at December
31, 2021 and 2020, were:
2021

Purchased Credit Card Portfolio Premiums
Other

2020

Gross Carrying
Amount
935
$

935

38

Accumulated
Amortization
(456)
$

(456)

Gross Carrying
Amount
1,391
865
$

2,256

Accumulated
Amortization
(700)
(855)
$

(1,555)
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Amortization expense for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, was $302 and $414,
respectively. Estimated amortization expense for each of these five years is:
2022
2023
2024
2025
2026

$

187
134
97
51
10

$

479

NOTE 11. LOAN SERVICING
Loans serviced for others are not included in the consolidated balance sheets. The risks
inherent in mortgage servicing assets relate primarily to changes in prepayments that result
from shifts in mortgage interest rates. The unpaid principal balances of mortgage and other
loans serviced for others were $148,641 and $199,255 at December 31, 2021 and 2020,
respectively.
The table below summarizes the activity in mortgage servicing rights measured using the fair
value method for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020.
2021
Balance as of the beginning of the period
Additions
Purchases
Disposals
Sale of mortage servicing rights
Amortization
Changes in fair value due to changes in
valuation inputs or assumptions used in
the valuation model*

$

Balance at the end of the period

$

2020
736

$

-

-

(736)

-

-

*Reflects changes in discount rates and prepayment speed assumptions.
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NOTE 12. TIME DEPOSITS
Time deposits in denominations of $250 or more were $430 and $630 on December 31, 2021
and 2020.
At December 31, 2021, net brokered deposit balances totaled $90,000, all with denominations
less than $250. The scheduled maturities of time deposits are as follows:
2022

$

90,457

NOTE 13. BORROWINGS
Short-term borrowings included the following at December 31, 2021 and 2020:
2021

Federal funds purchased and
agreements to repurchase

$

111,493

2020
$

183,811

The Corporation sells certain securities under agreements to repurchase. The agreements are
treated as financings, and the obligations to repurchase securities sold are reflected as a liability
in the consolidated balance sheets. The dollar amount of securities underlying the agreements
remains in the asset accounts. There were no repurchase agreements outstanding at
December 31, 2021. At December 31, 2020, repurchase agreements outstanding were $23,000
and matured within 90 days. The maximum and minimum amount of outstanding agreements
during 2021 totaled $23,000 and $0, respectively. The interest rate on these agreements are
based on the federal funds rate and the rate was 0.05% for all agreements in 2021.
At December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Bank had a primary credit line with the Federal Reserve
Bank of Dallas for $578,612 and $675,345, respectively, secured by loans. There were no
balances outstanding on this credit line at December 31, 2021 and 2020. There were no
balances outstanding at any time in 2021 or 2020. At December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Bank
also had a credit line with the FHLB for $126,327 and $193,568, respectively, secured by
marketable securities. There were no balances outstanding on this credit line at December 31,
2021 and 2020. There were no balances outstanding at any time in 2021 or 2020.
In June 2021, the Corporation borrowed $30,000 and secured a $10,000 line of credit with a
third party financial institution of which a member of the Corporation’s board of directors is the
Vice Chairman and CEO. The loan and the line of credit accrue interest at the Wall Street
Journal prime interest rate, adjustable daily, and are both secured by common stock of the
Bank. Interest is due quarterly and principal payments of $938 will begin in September 2023
and will be made quarterly with accrued interest until maturity, at which time all remaining
principal and interest will be due. The maturity of the loan and the line of credit is June 30,
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2031. There was no balance on the line of credit at any time in 2021 or at December 31, 2021.
The schedule of maturity of borrowings for the next five years is as follows:
2022
2023
2024
2025
2026

$

1,875
3,750
3,750
3,750

$

13,125

NOTE 14. INCOME TAXES
The Corporation or one of its subsidiaries files income tax returns in the U.S. Federal jurisdiction
and various states' jurisdictions.
The provision for income taxes includes these components:
Taxes currently payable
Deferred income taxes - current

$

2021
5,531
85

$

Income tax expense

$

5,616

$

2020
7,249
(3,498)
3,751

A reconciliation of income tax expense at the statutory rate to the Corporation's actual income
tax expense is as follows:
Computed at the statutory rate
Increase (decrease) resulting from
Tax-exempt interest
Nondeductible expenses
Increase in cash value of life insurance

$

Actual tax expense

$

2021
7,664

$

(1,868)
120
(300)
5,616

2020
5,608
(1,715)
126
(268)

$

3,751

Deferred assets as of December 31, 2021 and 2020 are based on the enacted U.S. statutory
federal income tax rate of 21%. The tax effects of temporary differences related to deferred
taxes on the consolidated balance sheets are presented in the table on the following page.
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2021

Deferred tax assets
Allowance for loan losses
Interest rate swap derivatives
Accrued expenses and other liabilities
Other

$

Total deferred tax assets

6,186
231
4,104
323

$

6,312
1,060
4,033
342

10,844

11,747

536
287
1,658

320
337
155
3,088

2,481

3,900

Deferred tax liabilities
Credit card premiums and intangibles
Premises and equipment
Mortgage servicing rights
Unrealized gains on available-for-sale securities
Total deferred tax liabilities
Net deferred tax assets

2020

$

8,363

$

7,847

NOTE 15. ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
The components of accumulated other comprehensive income, included in shareholders' equity
are as follows:
2021

Net unrealized gains (losses) on
available-for-sale securities
Cash flow hedges

$

7,898
(1,099)

2020
$

6,799
(1,428)

Tax effect
Net-of-tax amount

$

5,371

14,706
(5,049)
9,657
(2,029)

$

7,628

NOTE 16. SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
The Corporation has 5,000,000 common, 2,000,000 convertible redeemable Class B common
and 1,000,000 preferred shares authorized. Our capital stock is not quoted or traded on a
recognized stock exchange and holders do not have preemptive rights. The Corporation has no
convertible redeemable Class B common or preferred shares outstanding as of December 31,
2021 and 2020.
NOTE 17. REGULATORY MATTERS
As a result of the increase in the asset size threshold for determining applicability of the Federal
Reserve’s Small Bank Holding Company Policy Statement, the Corporation is no longer subject
to capital requirements as of September 30, 2018; however, the Bank is subject to regulatory
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capital requirements administered by federal banking agencies. Capital adequacy guidelines
and prompt corrective action regulations involve a quantitative measure of assets, liabilities, and
certain off-balance sheet items calculated under regulatory accounting practices. Capital
amounts and classifications are also subject to qualitative judgments by regulators. Failure to
meet capital requirements can initiate regulatory action. The final rules implementing Basel
Committee on Banking Supervision’s capital guidelines for U.S. Banks (Basel III rules) became
effective for the Corporation on January 1, 2015 with full compliance with all requirements being
phased in over a multi-year schedule, and fully phased in by January 1, 2019. In June 2020,
the Corporation’s consolidated assets exceeded the $3 billion threshold for determining
applicability of the Federal Reserve’s Small Bank Holding Company Policy Statement. In
response to the COVID-19 and CARES Act, federal banking agencies issued an interim final
rule (IFR) providing relief to financial institutions under $10 billion in total assets as of December
31, 2019. The IFR allows financial institutions to calculate their asset size for applicable
thresholds in certain rules during calendar years 2020 and 2021 based on the lower of total
assets as of December 31, 2019 or as of the normal measurement date. In particular, the IFR
adjusts the measurement dates for total asset thresholds that would trigger additional regulatory
reporting requirements for the remainder of calendar years 2020 through the end of 2021. This
temporary relief would allow the Corporation to continue to meet the asset size threshold to be
considered a Small Bank Holding Company until January 1, 2022.
The Bank is subject to the minimum capital ratios in the Basel III capital framework effective
January 1, 2015. Basel III mandates minimum capital ratios plus a phased in Capital
Conservation Buffer of 2.5% to be achieved by January 1, 2019. The buffer serves as
additional capital protection to weather periods of economic stress. Banking organizations with
a buffer greater than 2.5% are not subject to limits on distributions or payments; however, an
organization with a buffer of less than 2.5% is subject to increasingly stringent limitations as the
buffer approaches zero. At December 31, 2021 and 2020, the capital buffer was 2.50%, which
is included in the 2021 and 2020 minimum capital requirements relative to risk-weighted assets
in the tables on the following page. The net unrealized gain or loss on available-for-sale
securities is not included in computing regulatory capital.
Management believes as of December 31, 2021, the Bank meets all capital adequacy
requirements to which it is subject. At year-end 2021 and 2020, the most recent regulatory
notifications categorized the Bank as “well capitalized” pursuant to prompt corrective action
framework. There are no conditions or events since last notification to suggest the Bank’s
category has changed.

43

Independent Bankers Financial Corporation and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2021 and 2020
(Dollar amounts in thousands)

The Bank's actual capital amounts and ratios are presented in the following tables:

Actual
Amount
As of December 31, 2021
Tier I capital to
average assets
Bank only

Ratio

335,380

7.92%

Common Equity Tier I capital to
risk-weighted assets
Bank only

335,380

Tier I capital to
risk-weighted assets
Bank only
Total capital to
risk-weighted assets
Bank only

$

4.00%

211,640

5.00%

20.08%

116,889

7.00%

108,540

6.50%

335,380

20.08%

141,936

8.50%

133,587

8.00%

356,365

21.34%

175,333

10.50%

166,984

10.00%

$

Minimum Capital
Requirement
Basel III Schedule
Amount
Ratio

Ratio

278,577

7.17%

Common Equity Tier I capital to
risk-weighted assets
Bank only

278,577

Tier I capital to
risk-weighted assets
Bank only
Total capital to
risk-weighted assets
Bank only

$

Minimum to Be Well
Capitalized Under
Prompt Corrective Action
Provisions
Amount
Ratio

169,312

Actual
Amount
As of December 31, 2020
Tier I capital to
average assets
Bank only

Minimum Capital
Requirement
Basel III Schedule
Amount
Ratio

Minimum to Be Well
Capitalized Under
Prompt Corrective Action
Provisions
Amount
Ratio

155,358

4.00%

194,197

5.00%

16.02%

121,730

7.00%

113,035

6.50%

278,577

16.02%

147,815

8.50%

139,120

8.00%

300,424

17.28%

182,596

10.50%

173,901

10.00%
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NOTE 18. RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS
At December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Corporation had loans outstanding to executive officers,
directors, significant shareholders and their affiliates (related parties) for $2,061 and $11,541,
respectively.
Annual activity consisted of the following:
Beginning balance
New loans
Repayments

$

Ending balance

$

2021
11,541
52
(9,532)
2,061

$

$

2020

9,618
3,628
(1,705)

11,541

In management's opinion, such loans and other extensions of credit and deposits were made in
the ordinary course of business and were made on substantially the same terms (including
interest rates and collateral) as those prevailing at the time for comparable transactions with
other persons. Further, in management's opinion, these loans did not involve more than normal
risk of collectability or present other unfavorable features.
Deposits from related parties held by the Bank at December 31, 2021 and 2020, totaled
$94,921 and $141,695, respectively.
As discussed in Note 13, at December 31, 2021, the Corporation has an outstanding borrowing
and unused secured line of credit from a third party financial institution of which a member of the
Corporation’s board of directors is the Vice Chairman and CEO.
NOTE 19. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
The Corporation maintains a 401K savings plan for employees. Employees are eligible to
participate immediately upon hire subject to the next enrollment date. The Corporation may
contribute a maximum of 5 percent of the employee's annual compensation. Both employer and
employee contributions to the savings plan vest immediately. The Corporation's contributions
were $1,134 and $1,065 in 2021 and 2020, respectively.
Nonqualified deferred compensation plans provide death and retirement benefits to certain
officers. Deferred compensation expense of $906 and $1,068 was recorded in 2021 and 2020,
respectively. Deferred compensation payable totaled $15,168 and $14,535 at December 31,
2021 and 2020, respectively. The Corporation purchased life insurance policies to fund future
plan obligations. These policies had an aggregate cash surrender value of $67,084 and
$61,656 at December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.
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SAR awards outstanding, end of year

The number
respectively.
respectively.
respectively.

2020
101,700
(15,450)
(8,250)
21,350

2021
99,350
(22,850)
(2,400)
22,570

SAR awards outstanding, beginning of year
Redeemed
Forfeited
Granted

99,350

96,670

of shares of SAR awards granted in 2021 and 2020 was 22,570 and 21,350,
The value of SAR awards vested totaled $1,429 and $1,311 in 2021 and 2020,
The value of SAR awards redeemed totaled $2,257 and $1,336 in 2021 and 2020,
The tax benefit recognized was $497 and $257, respectively, in 2021 and 2020.

Compensation expense for stock appreciation rights is accrued over the vesting period of the
award. Accrued compensation payable under the plans totaled $3,807 and $4,064 at
December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. Compensation expense recognized under the
plans totaled $2,200 and $1,320 in 2021 and 2020, respectively.
NOTE 20. LEASES
The Corporation has non-cancelable operating leases for certain property with payment terms
up to 40 months with some including extensions for an additional 36 months. The lease
payments are charged to expense over the lease term as it becomes payable. Rental expense
for these leases was $495 and $288 for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020,
respectively. At December 31, 2021, the lease payments for operating leases with initial terms
of greater than 12 months are as follows:
Operating
Leases
2022
2023
2024
Total minimum lease payments

$

456
339
312

$

1,107

NOTE 21. DISCLOSURES ABOUT FAIR VALUE OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Fair value is the price received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Fair value measurements
must maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. A
hierarchy of three levels of inputs may be used to measure fair value:
Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Corporation
can access at the measurement date.
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Level 2: Observable inputs other than Level 1 prices, such as quoted prices for similar assets or
liabilities; quoted prices in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can
be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or
liabilities.
Level 3: Unobservable inputs for determining the fair values of assets or liabilities that reflect an
entity's own assumptions about the assumptions that market participants would use in pricing
the assets or liabilities.
Recurring Measurements
The table below presents the fair value measurements of assets and liabilities recognized in the
Corporation's consolidated balance sheets measured at fair value on a recurring basis and the
level within the fair value hierarchy in which the fair value measurements fall at December 31,
2021 and 2020.
Fair Value Measurements Using

December 31, 2021:
Available-for-sale securities
U.S. GSEs - residential
U.S. GSEs - commercial
Municipal securities
Derivative liabilities

Fair Value

$

Funds measured at NAV
Private equity funds
December 31, 2020:
Available-for-sale securities
U.S. GSEs - residential
Municipal securities
Mortgage servicing rights
Derivative liabilities
Funds measured at NAV
Private equity funds

335,683
3,260
3,427
1,099

Quoted Prices in
Active Markets for
Identical Assets
(Level 1)

$

259,697
3,579
736
5,049

$

-

13,264

$

-

$

-

8,502

Significant
Unobservable
Inputs
(Level 3)

Significant Other
Observable Inputs
(Level 2)

335,683
3,260
3,427
1,099

$

-

-

$

259,697
3,579
5,049
-

-

$

736
-

The Corporation’s participation in private equity investment funds are characteristically initiated
for one of two purposes: (1) for utilization of excess cash held at the Corporation for long term
growth with opportunity to withdraw and (2) for long term growth with potential for gain from the
liquidation of underlying assets. The private equity investment purchased to utilize excess cash
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involves an investee whose principal strategy is to identify and exploit inefficiencies in securities
and other instruments while minimizing downside exposure and market risk through investment
in other non-correlated investment strategies and risk mitigation techniques. This investment
does not have any restrictions and may be withdrawn with written 30-day notice. The private
equity investment purchased for long term growth involves an investee whose strategy is to
negotiate equity and equity related investments in financial services technology companies and
businesses, with particular focus on early and growth-stage financial services technology
companies. The estimated period of time over which the underlying assets are expected to be
liquidated by the investee is ten years. This investment is not redeemable but the Corporation
does have the option sell its shares subject to approval by general partners.
Following is a description of the valuation methodologies and inputs used for assets and
liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis and recognized in the consolidated balance
sheets, and the general classification of such assets and liabilities under the valuation hierarchy.
There have been no significant changes in the valuation techniques during the years ended
December 31, 2021 and 2020. For assets classified within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy,
the process used to develop the reported fair value is described below.
Fair value is based upon quoted market prices, where available. If such quoted market prices
are not available, fair value is based upon internally developed models that primarily use, as
inputs, observable market-based parameters. Valuation adjustments may be made to ensure
that financial instruments are recorded at fair value. These adjustments may include amounts
to reflect counterparty credit quality and the Corporation's creditworthiness and unobservable
parameters. Any such valuation adjustments are applied consistently. The Corporation's
valuation methodologies may produce a fair value calculation that may not indicate net
realizable value or reflective of future fair values. While management believes the Corporation's
valuation methodologies are appropriate and consistent with other market participants, using
different methodologies or assumptions to determine the fair value of certain financial
instruments could cause a different estimate of fair value at the reporting date. The reported fair
value amounts have not been comprehensively revalued since the presentation dates and,
therefore, estimates of fair value after the consolidated balance sheets date may differ
significantly from the amounts presented.
Available-for-sale Securities
Securities classified as "available for sale" are reported at fair value utilizing Level 2 inputs. For
these securities, the Corporation obtains fair value measurements from an independent pricing
service. The fair value measurements observable data includes dealer quotes, market spreads,
cash flows, the U.S. Treasury and other yield curves, live trading levels, trade execution data,
market consensus prepayment speeds, credit information and the security's terms.
Derivatives
Derivatives are reported at fair value utilizing Level 2 inputs. The Corporation performs an
internal evaluation to estimate fair value of interest rate swap contracts through valuation
models with observable market data inputs (Level 2).
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Mortgage Servicing Rights
Historically, mortgage servicing rights were reported at fair value utilizing Level 3 inputs. The
Corporation used an independent valuation firm to estimate the fair value of mortgage servicing
rights through prevailing market participant assumptions and market participant valuation
processes. This valuation and its techniques are periodically tested and validated against other
third-party firm valuations. To determine the fair value of mortgage servicing rights, they are
placed in homogeneous groups by investor, remittance requirements, loan type, interest rate
and year of origination. At December 31, 2020, prepayment speeds were determined using
Andrew Davidson's MBS Enhanced Prepayment Model and resulted in weighted-average years
to payoff of 3.93 years. At December 31, 2020, the primary discount rates averaged 9.25
percent. During the year ended December 31, 2020, changes in fair value were attributable to
changes in valuation inputs and assumptions. During the year ended December 31, 2021, the
Company’s mortgage servicing rights were fully amortized to a balance of $0. No valuation was
performed as of the year ended December 31, 2021.
Level 3 Reconciliation
The following is a reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of recurring fair value
measurements recognized in the Corporation's accompanying consolidated balance sheets
using significant unobservable (Level 3) inputs.

Mortgage
Servicing
Rights
Balance, January 1, 2020
Included in net income:
Decrease in fair value
Purchases
Disposal

$

1,795
(1,059)
-

Balance, December 31, 2020
Included in net income:
Decrease in fair value
Purchases
Amortization
Disposals

736
(736)
$

Balance, December 31, 2021
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Changes in fair value reflected in the table above are included in noninterest expense for the
years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020.
For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, there were no significant transfers among
Levels 1, 2 and 3.
Nonrecurring Measurements
Certain financial assets and liabilities are measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis; that is,
the instruments are not measured at fair value on an ongoing basis, but are subject to fair value
adjustments in certain circumstances (for example, when there is evidence of impairment).
Financial assets measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis are as shown below.
Foreclosed Assets Held for Sale
Foreclosed assets held for sale are carried at the lower of cost or fair value less estimated
selling costs. Fair value is estimated through current appraisals, real estate brokers or listing
prices.
The table below presents the fair value measurement of assets measured at fair value on a
nonrecurring basis and the level within the fair value hierarchy in which the fair value
measurements fall at December 31:

Fair Value

Quoted Prices in
Active Markets for
Identical Assets
(Level 1)

Significant Other
Observable Inputs
(Level 2)

Significant
Unobservable
Inputs
(Level 3)

December 31, 2021:
Foreclosed assets held
for sale

$

150

$

-

$

-

$

150

December 31, 2020:
Foreclosed assets held
for sale

$

954

$

-

$

-

$

954

Unobservable (Level 3) Inputs
The tables on the following page presents quantitative information about unobservable inputs
used in recurring and nonrecurring Level 3 fair value measurements other than goodwill at
December 31, 2021 and 2020.
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Fair Value at
December 31,
2021
Foreclosed assets held
for sale

$

150

Fair Value at
December 31,
2020

Valuation
Technique

Unobservable
Inputs

Range
(Weighted
Average)

Market comparable
properties

Comparability
adjustments

Not available

Valuation
Technique

Unobservable
Inputs

Range
(Weighted
Average)

Mortgage servicing rights

$

736

Discounted cash flow

Discount rate
Prepayments
Delinquencies

9.1% - 15.1% (9.25%)
8.6% - 20.1% (16.76%)
2.9% - 12.5% (6.38%)

Foreclosed assets held
for sale

$

954

Market comparable
properties

Comparability
adjustments

Not available

The tables below present estimated fair values, and related carrying amounts, of the
Corporation's financial instruments, not previously disclosed, at December 31, 2021 and 2020.
Carrying Amount
Financial assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Federal Reserve and
FHLB stock
Interest receivable
Loans held for sale
Loans - net
Financial liabilities:
Demand and non-interest bearing
Interest bearing transaction accounts
Time deposits
Interest payable
Short-term borrowings

$

2,360,068

December 31, 2021
Fair Value

2,360,068

1

4,893
5,978
5,749
1,130,324

4,893
5,978
5,749
1,115,370

3
1
3
3

751,988
2,642,394
90,457
6
111,493

751,988
2,642,394
90,459
6
111,493

1
2
3
1
1
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Carrying Amount
Financial assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Federal Reserve and
FHLB stock
Interest receivable
Loans held for sale
Loans - net
Financial liabilities:
Demand and non-interest bearing
Interest bearing transaction accounts
Time deposits
Interest payable
Short-term borrowings

$

December 31, 2020
Fair Value

Level

2,081,486

1

3,581
6,626
15,464
1,265,001

3,581
6,626
15,464
1,249,915

3
1
3
3

533,864
2,514,223
191,043
8
183,811

533,864
2,514,223
191,106
8
183,811

1
2
3
1
1

2,081,486

$

NOTE 22. SIGNIFICANT ESTIMATES, CONCENTRATIONS, COMMITMENTS AND CREDIT
RISK
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require disclosure of
certain significant estimates and vulnerabilities due to certain concentrations. Estimates related
to the allowance for loan losses are reflected in the note regarding loans.
General Litigation
The Corporation is subject to claims and lawsuits that arise primarily in the ordinary course of
business. Management believes the disposition or ultimate resolution of such claims and
lawsuits will not have a material adverse effect on the consolidated financial position, results of
operations and cash flows of the Corporation.
Standby Letters of Credit
Standby letters of credit are irrevocable, conditional commitments issued by the Corporation to
guarantee the performance of a customer to a third party. Financial standby letters of credit are
primarily issued to support public and private borrowing arrangements, including commercial
paper, bond financing and similar transactions. Performance standby letters of credit are issued
to guarantee performance of certain customers under nonfinancial contractual obligations. The
credit risk involved in issuing standby letters of credit is essentially the same as that involved in
extending loans to customers. Should the Corporation be obligated to perform under the
standby letters of credit, the Corporation may seek recourse from the customer for
reimbursement of amounts paid.
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The Corporation had total outstanding standby letters of credit amounting to $5,992 and $9,686
at December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively, with terms ranging from 30 to 365 days.
Lines of Credit
Lines of credit are agreements to lend to customers if there is no violation of any condition
established in the contract. Lines of credit have fixed expiration dates. Since a portion of the
line of credit may expire without being drawn upon, the total unused lines do not necessarily
represent future cash requirements. Each customer's creditworthiness is evaluated on a caseby-case basis. Collateral obtained, if deemed necessary, is based on management's credit
evaluation of the counterparty. Collateral held varies but may include accounts receivable,
inventory, property, plant and equipment, commercial real estate and residential real estate.
Management uses the same credit policies in granting lines of credit as it does for on-balancesheet instruments.
At December 31, 2021, the Corporation had unused lines of credit to borrowers aggregating
approximately $993,000 and $384,000 for commercial lines and open-end consumer lines,
respectively. At December 31, 2020, unused lines of credit to borrowers aggregated
approximately $951,000 and $378,000 for commercial lines and open-end consumer lines,
respectively.
Equity Investments
The corporation has committed to acquire the remaining 50% ownership of The Bank CEO
Network for $2,000 on January 1, 2024 and will obtain control of the entity at that time.
At December 31, 2021, the Corporation had an outstanding commitment amount of $2,838 for
capital contributions in a limited partnership. The remaining commitment is expected to be
called between two to three years.
Securities
The Corporation invests in various investment securities. Investment securities are exposed to
various risks such as interest rate, market and credit risks. Due to the level of risk associated
with certain investment securities, it is at least reasonably possible that changes in the values of
investment securities will occur in the near term and such changes could materially affect the
amounts reported in the consolidated balance sheets.
NOTE 23. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
The Corporation has evaluated subsequent events for recognition and disclosure through March
23, 2022, which is the date the consolidated financial statements were issued.
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NOTE 24. CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION (PARENT CORPORATION ONLY)
Presented below is condensed financial information on financial position, results of operations
and cash flows of the Corporation:
Years Ended December 31,
2021
2020

Condensed Balance Sheets
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Investment in common stock of subsidiaries
Other assets
Total assets
Liabilities
Other borrowings
Other liabilities

$

1,132
343,230
13,086

$

6,197
288,907
9,573

$

357,448

$

304,677

$

30,000
3,809

$

4,064

Total liabilities
Shareholders' Equity
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity
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$

33,809

4,064

323,639

300,613

357,448

$

304,677
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Years Ended December 31,
2021
2020

Condensed Statements of Income
and Comprehensive Income
Income
Dividends from subsidiaries
Other income

$

Total income
Expenses
Interest expense
Other expenses
Total expenses
Income before income tax and equity in
undistributed net income of subsidiaries
Income tax benefit
Income before equity in undistributed net
income of subsidiaries
Equity in undistributed net income of subsidiaries
Net income

$

Total other comprehensive income (loss)

6,000
606

$

6,606

14,021

505
2,257

1,366

2,762

1,366

3,844

12,655

453

283

4,297

12,938

26,580

10,014

30,877

$

(2,257)

Comprehensive income

$
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14,000
21

28,620

22,952
3,649

$

26,601
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Years Ended December 31,
2021

Condensed Statements of Cash Flows
Operating activities
Net income
Items not providing cash

$

Net cash provided by operating activities
Investing activities
Payments to and investments in subsidiaries
Purchase of investment
Net cash used in investing activities
Financing activities
Sale of common stock
Purchase and retirement of common stock
Proceeds from other borrowings
Cash dividends paid on common stock
Net cash used in financing activities
Net change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

$

56

2020

30,877
(27,348)

$

22,952
(10,261)

3,529

12,691

(30,000)
(3,000)
(33,000)

(5,000)
(5,000)

1
(1)
30,000
(5,594)

1
(2)
(5,594)

24,406

(5,595)

(5,065)

2,096

6,197

4,101

1,132

$

6,197

